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 1                           ---
  

 2                  P R O C E E D I N G S
  

 3                      (8:25 p.m.)
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  All right.  Next case.
  

 5        Case 18-06, this is the owner of Minas, LLC.
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Minas.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  What is it?
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Minas.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Minas.  The applicant is
  

10        Stan Southern representing Minas, LLC.  This
  

11        property is located at 550 Hopkins Street and
  

12        601 Hill Street.  The block and lot numbers of the
  

13        properties in question are 508-P-104 and 421-B-291.
  

14        This property is located -- these properties are
  

15        located in the R-1 District and also in the
  

16        Borough's Natural Resource Overlay or steep slopes.
  

17                 This property -- this application -- a
  

18        Notice of Violation was submitted to the property
  

19        owners and an application for the permit was
  

20        submitted on July 4th, 2018.  A denial letter was
  

21        submitted on August the 3rd, 2018 from the Zoning
  

22        Officer.
  

23                 Subsequent to that, an application for
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 1        relief through the zoning hearing board was
  

 2        submitted on August the 9th, 2018.  The case was
  

 3        advertised on August 17th and 24th.  The property
  

 4        was posted on August 17th.  The neighbors'
  

 5        notifications were sent out on August the 17th as
  

 6        well.
  

 7                 It should be noted that a -- that it was
  

 8        part of the Notice of Violation was a previous
  

 9        zoning hearing board decision that was issued on
  

10        February 11th, 2015.  Also, referred to as case
  

11        No. 14-07.
  

12                 Nancy, again, as the administrator, can
  

13        you attest to all those dates and actions are
  

14        correct?
  

15                 MRS. WATTS:  That's correct.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  For further
  

17        understanding, a Notice of Violation was sent out
  

18        on August the 3rd, and at that point --
  

19                 MRS. WATTS:  That date's wrong.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Do you want to
  

21        clarify that?  You mean the date on the letter?
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  The date on the letter is
  

23        August 3rd.
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 1                 MRS. WATTS:  Oh, okay.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Which is the building
  

 3        permit application.  Now, it appears to be -- so I
  

 4        did see something before that date.  Excuse me.
  

 5        Just one second.  I thought I saw another -- yes,
  

 6        on February 11th is the case.  I understand there
  

 7        was some action taken on this property,
  

 8        specifically, construction of a driveway, and that
  

 9        because the building permit had not been submitted
  

10        on a timely basis, both it and the timing of the
  

11        variance that we had submitted had expired.
  

12                 Is that correct, Nancy?
  

13                 MRS. WATTS:  It has expired, yes, that's
  

14        correct.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Which prompted the new
  

16        building permit application.
  

17                 MRS. WATTS:  Pardon me?
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Which prompted the new
  

19        building permit application or zoning application.
  

20                 MRS. WATTS:  And I came to find out that
  

21        there was a driveway installed without a permit, so
  

22        I don't think he was asking for another building
  

23        permit to put a new -- to put the house on it.  The
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 1        building permit asked to be permitted to put the
  

 2        driveway in that's already been installed.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Okay.  So that's
  

 4        just for case purposes.
  

 5                 All those who wish to testify on this
  

 6        matter, please rise and be properly sworn in.
  

 7        (WHEREUPON, various and sundry witnesses
  

 8        sworn.)
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Those who wish to
  

10        testify on this will need to come forward one at a
  

11        time when they're asked to do so, state their name
  

12        and their address.  We can refer to it whether
  

13        these folks were in the listing on the application.
  

14        If we need to add additional names, we'll do so.
  

15                 Is the Applicant here to present his case
  

16        and request?
  

17                 STAN SOUTHERN, sworn and testified:
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  All right.  Mr. Southern,
  

20        why don't you come on up to the podium.
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Where would you like me to
  

22        begin?
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  At the beginning.
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 1                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Okay.  Well, you've given
  

 2        everybody the background why I'm here.  May I give
  

 3        a little background on Minas corporation and why I
  

 4        personally am here?
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Sure.
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Okay.  So Minas, LLC was
  

 7        formed back in November, 2013.  I did this -- I
  

 8        formed this LLC to help out a friend of mine,
  

 9        Ed Abbott, and his family.  His wife Buffy is here.
  

10                 The purpose of the LLC is to buy, renovate
  

11        and sell houses in the Sewickley area.  Ed had a
  

12        vision for improving properties in the area of
  

13        where this driveway is being requested:  Around
  

14        548 Hopkins, 550 Hopkins, 547 Hill, and 601 Hill.
  

15        Those are the four properties that Ed had a vision
  

16        for improving.  All of the properties or buildings
  

17        on these properties and creating a -- basically
  

18        adding value to the homes there and putting them up
  

19        for sale.
  

20                 The goal of the LLC was then to help Ed
  

21        and his family realize some profit from the sale of
  

22        the homes and to help Ed actually purchase a small
  

23        business to help him get him back on his feet.
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 1                 I personally am the silent partner of
  

 2        Minas, LLC.  I don't do any of the work.  Ed was
  

 3        kind of the hands-on, general contractor.  He did
  

 4        all of the work on behalf of the LLC.  I provided
  

 5        financial backing.
  

 6                 The reason I formed it was Ed was not in a
  

 7        position to secure loans, so I agreed, as a friend,
  

 8        to go ahead and put my own home up for collateral
  

 9        and to help him out.  Help Buffy and their family
  

10        out because he needed help.  I wanted to be a good
  

11        friend.
  

12                 So at any rate, I had jumped in and did
  

13        that.  And the plan was to transfer ownership of
  

14        Minas to Ed at some point in time.  I'm actually
  

15        the sole owner of Minas, LLC.  Unfortunately, that
  

16        didn't happen.  We got pretty far into some of the
  

17        construction.  Ed completed the house at 547 Hill
  

18        Street and it was sold earlier this year.  Ed
  

19        started the project at 601 Hill Street where there
  

20        was a building permit for renovation on that house.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Wait a second.  The house
  

22        that you said that you built and sold was at what
  

23        location?
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 1                 MR. SOUTHERN:  547 Hill Street.
  

 2                 MS. LYONS:  So is that across the street?
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's two doors -- from 601
  

 4        Hill Street, it's two doors down.  So 601 and then
  

 5        there's 555 and 547.  So it's two doors down.
  

 6        555 Hill Street is two doors down.
  

 7                 MS. LYONS:  547 Hill Street.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  But the one at 547
  

 9        was not part of the previous --
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.  That is separate.
  

11                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- hearing?
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That's just background
  

13        information.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  But it wasn't
  

15        related to this case.
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It wasn't part of the 550
  

18        Hopkins --
  

19                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- previous stuff and all
  

21        of that?
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes, that's correct.  It
  

23        was the adjoining property.
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 1                 MS. LYONS:  But he did build it and it has
  

 2        sold?
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  He renovated it.
  

 4                 MS. LYONS:  He renovated it.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  He renovated it.
  

 6                 MS. LYONS:  Okay.  That's good to know.
  

 7        Thank you.  That's this one.
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So at any rate, things were
  

 9        progressing.  Ed had quite a vision on how to
  

10        really get the best value out of all these homes.
  

11        We had the building permit.  We had the building
  

12        permit for 550 Hopkins, which you alluded to
  

13        earlier.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You had what now?  Say
  

15        this again.
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  To build a home on 550
  

17        Hopkins Street.  It was a building permit 4226.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And we gave the variance
  

19        according to that, correct?
  

20                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It was in accordance with
  

22        that variance we gave.
  

23                 MRS. WATTS:  That's correct.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Which was the setback.
  

 2                 MR. SOUTHERN:  And that was for a setback.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  A setback.
  

 4                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.  And that had a
  

 5        driveway coming down.  That was approved.
  

 6                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  But it was only on that
  

 7        lot.
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

 9                 MRS. WATTS:  That's correct.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Because we're going to go
  

11        back to this hearing.  We had extensive hearings on
  

12        this case --
  

13                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- that did not
  

15        ultimately involve a shared driveway.
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.  That is correct.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So the flaw in the
  

19        thinking -- and this is just an error in not
  

20        knowing the ordinance.  I understand that's not an
  

21        excuse.  I'm just explaining that we -- well, Ed --
  

22        since Minas owned both of the properties that were
  

23        being crossed, the assumption was that we could
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 1        just do it and then declare an easement for having
  

 2        that property line across, which was obviously bad
  

 3        judgment or a lack of understanding of the
  

 4        ordinance.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Well, we specifically
  

 6        told Mr. Abbott that he couldn't do that.
  

 7                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I apologize.  I have no
  

 8        knowledge of that.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So where I come in, so Ed,
  

11        unfortunately, was diagnosed with cancer in late
  

12        2016.  Stage 4 colon cancer.  And at that point in
  

13        time it was decided, okay, we're going to have
  

14        to -- he was getting sick as we got into 2017.  It
  

15        was decided we're going to have to just finish what
  

16        we could as opposed to trying to start a
  

17        construction project at 550 Hopkins.
  

18                 So it was decided to go ahead and get
  

19        601 Hill Street ready for sale.  So to that end, he
  

20        did a full court press to get the driveway to a
  

21        point where it would be ready to pave.  He passed
  

22        away in May of 2018, so a few months ago Ed passed
  

23        away.



Donna M. McMullen, Inc.
724-728-4026

- September 4, 2018

15

  
 1                 So as the sole owner of Minas, LLC, it's
  

 2        now fallen to me to complete the projects that have
  

 3        been started.
  

 4                 So, as I said, when Ed got sick, we
  

 5        shifted that focus to completing 601 Hill.  We
  

 6        completed the driveway.  We did that.
  

 7                 So when I took over, I met with Nancy.  I
  

 8        proactively went to see her to make sure that the
  

 9        storm water management plan that was in place was
  

10        adequate.  And Nancy walked the property, and I was
  

11        given a letter of all the violations that are in
  

12        that notice from August 3rd.  So I am here now to
  

13        complete this project.
  

14                 The Minas, LLC now exists to pretty much
  

15        help keep Buffy and her kids -- her two
  

16        daughters -- in that house at 548 Hopkins, where
  

17        they currently live.  I would like to get the
  

18        properties completed and homes sold and get any
  

19        proceeds from those sales will at this point go to
  

20        try to keep Buffy and the kids in the house.  So
  

21        that's kind of a plan -- a change in plan,
  

22        unfortunately, but that's where we find ourselves.
  

23        So that's the background on Minas.
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 1                 So, again, I proactively went to Nancy.
  

 2        I'm coming in kind of cold.  I'm not a general
  

 3        contractor, and I'm trying to get the best support
  

 4        I can on getting these projects completed and do it
  

 5        within the ordinances.  So I don't want to be an
  

 6        evildoer.  I don't think Ed had any malice when he
  

 7        had the driveway installed.  I know you said that
  

 8        he was told not to.  I have no record of that.  So
  

 9        I can't really speak to that, but it was never
  

10        brought up that was something that was specifically
  

11        stated that he couldn't do.
  

12                 So I'm here today to ask primarily for the
  

13        variance to allow that driveway to cross the
  

14        property boundaries between 550 Hopkins and
  

15        601 Hill Street.  There's also a small amount of
  

16        602 Hopkins, it's also covered by the driveway that
  

17        I'd like to ask for a variance for as well.
  

18                 I would -- should I go through all of the
  

19        variances I'm asking for or start giving some
  

20        background on what I'm asking for?
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah, we note in the
  

22        application the request for variance, which was
  

23        addressed and the violations related thereto.  So
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 1        if you want to go ahead.
  

 2                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So specifically, I'm
  

 3        requesting a building permit that expired on
  

 4        October 30th, 2017, building permit 4226.  I'd like
  

 5        to ask for that same building permit to complete
  

 6        the construction on 550 Hopkins for a single-family
  

 7        dwelling with the same variances that were granted
  

 8        earlier via that Appeal, 14-07.
  

 9                 I would like to -- so there's -- nothing
  

10        has changed as far as that specific building
  

11        permit, other than now I'm asking that the driveway
  

12        be extended to 601 Hill Street, but the rest of
  

13        that building permit for 550 Hopkins, the house
  

14        itself and the access to the driveway.  Nothing has
  

15        changed as far as the setbacks and the variances.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah, the only thing that
  

17        we allowed was that the applicant was -- a variance
  

18        from the front setback to not exceed -- to be no
  

19        less than 20 feet in accordance with the site plan
  

20        submitted.  That's the only variance we had.
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.  So I don't know
  

22        if I need two building permits.  I actually
  

23        submitted a second building permit for the
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 1        driveway, so I'm not sure what I need to do there.
  

 2        I need that first building permit to extend the --
  

 3        since it expired -- to allow a home to be built
  

 4        with the previously agreed upon variances.  And I
  

 5        had actually submitted this second building permit
  

 6        application to get the driveway installed as it's
  

 7        currently -- get permission to complete the
  

 8        driveway as it's currently partially installed.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Again, I was a party to
  

10        that decision.
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Okay.
  

12                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I spoke with Mr. Lavery
  

13        just to refresh our memory of the decision, and as
  

14        you can read in the thing, there was extensive --
  

15        this hearing went for three months.
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes, I know.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And it went -- and
  

18        specifically the issue was the driveway, and
  

19        ultimately it was withdrawn because there were
  

20        several issues.  One, this shared driveway's over
  

21        properties and creates issues.  But the other
  

22        bigger issue also is in accordance with the slope
  

23        and how this was going to be cut and there was some
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 1        legal signs of that and some other issues related
  

 2        to it.
  

 3                 So the only part -- so ultimately that
  

 4        driveway issue was withdrawn because, again, you
  

 5        can build the house.  You just can't have
  

 6        off-street parking.  And we know that's not
  

 7        desirable.
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Can I address that?
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So I would claim that
  

11        there's significant hardships associated with
  

12        having on-street parking being required for this
  

13        particular lot.  It is, in fact, a unique lot in
  

14        the area.
  

15                 MS. LYONS:  Can I interrupt for a second?
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

17                 MS. LYONS:  First of all, I think I speak
  

18        for all of us when we say that we are very sorry
  

19        for your loss of your friend and your husband.
  

20                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Thank you.
  

21                 MS. LYONS:  But when you just said "the
  

22        lot," there's multiple lots, so can you be clear?
  

23                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Oh, I apologize.  For
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 1        601 Hill Street, so the fundamental ask here is to
  

 2        allow the driveway to be extended so it can be used
  

 3        for 601 Hill Street.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So the access will be
  

 5        from Hopkins?
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Down the lot of Hopkins?
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And then over to serve
  

10        the property that is going to be built on Hill
  

11        Street?
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's already there.
  

13        There's a house at 601 Hill Street now that's
  

14        already been renovated.  There was a building
  

15        permit for that previously.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And so it's there.  They
  

17        just have on-lot parking or on-street parking?
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right now it's on-street
  

19        parking, yes.  The unique circumstances for the lot
  

20        that's 601 Hill Street, the property is on, is the
  

21        significant distance from Hill Street.  It is a
  

22        narrow lot with about -- I believe it's 160 feet
  

23        from the road to the house.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah, it's back there.
  

 2                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There had been a set of
  

 3        steps up to the front door, which is significantly
  

 4        difficult to traverse, especially in inclement
  

 5        weather.  Ed actually took those steps out.  I know
  

 6        there are people here that are probably going to
  

 7        want to testify about that.  They'll have that
  

 8        opportunity.  He replaced the steps with a winding
  

 9        path to go up to the front to try to make it a
  

10        little easier to get from the road to the house.
  

11        It's still a significant amount of up slope.  It's
  

12        steep slopes, so a significant amount to traverse
  

13        uphill to get to the house.  Anybody who is not in
  

14        good physical condition or carrying anything of any
  

15        weight is going to have difficulty traversing that
  

16        from the road to the house.  That makes it very --
  

17                 MS. LYONS:  How does that differ from, I
  

18        guess, traversing from the house up to Hopkins?
  

19                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There would be a driveway.
  

20        I would allow driving and parking a few feet from
  

21        the house.
  

22                 MS. LYONS:  So you can't put a driveway
  

23        from Hill Street up to the house --
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 1                 MR. SOUTHERN:  No.
  

 2                 MS. LYONS:  -- up from the other side?
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  No, you can't, and the
  

 4        reason why it's a narrow lot and it would be
  

 5        impossible to bring a driveway up the front and get
  

 6        it around to the side and would result in parking
  

 7        being in front of the house, which is not allowed.
  

 8        To my understanding it's Article VI.
  

 9                 So that is unique about this lot.  It's
  

10        landlocked.  It's not easy to get to.  The house is
  

11        pretty much --
  

12                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  When you say
  

13        "landlocked," it does front a public street,
  

14        correct?
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.  It's landlocked
  

16        and that there's no way to get a car -- there's no
  

17        driveway.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It's landlocked from
  

19        on-street parking -- off-street parking.
  

20                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes, correct.  When I say
  

21        landlocked --
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  But it does front a
  

23        public street.
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 1                 MR. SOUTHERN:  -- that's what I meant.
  

 2                 MS. LYONS:  It doesn't have an alley.
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There's nothing --
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It doesn't have easy
  

 5        access --
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  -- for anyone.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- by vehicle.  But, it's
  

 8        got stairs.  You're right.  It's difficult, but
  

 9        it's built upon a hill.
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's a tough house to get
  

11        to.
  

12                 The house has been improved and a
  

13        significant amount of renovation went into it.  The
  

14        value of the house -- I would almost say it's
  

15        almost not viable to sell it in its current state
  

16        without a driveway.  It would be very difficult to
  

17        get somebody to agree to purchase this house
  

18        without there being an access.  I don't know how
  

19        anybody could move in.  It's a large house now.
  

20        Four bedrooms, three and a half baths.  I don't
  

21        know how anybody could reasonably move into that
  

22        house without a driveway.  I just don't see it.
  

23        It's going to be very difficult.
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 1                 The only viable option I see for that
  

 2        driveway is to come in from Hopkins Street and
  

 3        cross the boundary line.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  We addressed the issue of
  

 5        resubdividing the properties at the time, and he
  

 6        didn't want to do that, but that's also a way of
  

 7        relieving this issue is restructuring -- so you can
  

 8        redesign the lots --
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- so that driveway could
  

11        come off of Hopkins and serve, you know, by
  

12        combining those two lots.
  

13                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I didn't know that was an
  

14        option.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I believe -- Nancy, was
  

16        that an option?
  

17                 MRS. WATTS:  The original variance that
  

18        was issued to 550 Hopkins Street did include a
  

19        driveway.  It did.  I was surprised to find that --
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It didn't extend
  

21        beyond -- it only served 550 Hopkins.
  

22                 MRS. WATTS:  Agreed.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It didn't serve the other
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 1        property.
  

 2                 MRS. WATTS:  Agreed.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That's where it stopped.
  

 4                 MRS. WATTS:  I was surprised to find that.
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  But it -- yes, so the slope
  

 6        was approved.  So the step slope part of the
  

 7        driveway, that was approved to go down and serve
  

 8        550 Hopkins.
  

 9                 MS. LYONS:  Is that what the variance was
  

10        for, for the driveway, for the steep slope request?
  

11                 MRS. WATTS:  No, it was something that was
  

12        definitely discussed.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  The new house was going
  

14        to be built 20 feet to the house.
  

15                 MS. LYONS:  But that's the house, not
  

16        driveway.  What was the variance that the driveway
  

17        got?
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  They didn't get a
  

19        variance.
  

20                 MS. LYONS:  It was just part of the
  

21        building plan.
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Because he wanted to do a



Donna M. McMullen, Inc.
724-728-4026

- September 4, 2018

26

  
 1        shared driveway.  He wanted to go over properties,
  

 2        and ultimately that was drawn.  He said, "I would
  

 3        just do the property on 550 Hopkins, and that's
  

 4        it."  He wanted to do this other one, and the board
  

 5        didn't allow that to happen.
  

 6                 MRS. WATTS:  I would only point out that
  

 7        because there are steep slope issues, the board
  

 8        paid critical attention to how we were managing
  

 9        storm water --
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Umm-mmm, yeah.
  

11                 MRS. WATTS:  -- and that's one of the
  

12        things that prolonged it.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And the integrity of the
  

14        slopes.
  

15                 MRS. WATTS:  Right.  Well, that's one
  

16        thing that prolonged the hearings.  You know, there
  

17        was no steep slope issue with the matters.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  With the proper geotech
  

19        and the proper issues, but we did have an issue
  

20        with the shared driveway.
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That was it.  Miss Watts,
  

22        as I understand that was the only share was the
  

23        shared driveway.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And it was withdrawn.
  

 2        And this 550 Hopkins was going to have the
  

 3        driveway, but the other property wasn't going to
  

 4        get the driveway.
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
  

 6                 MRS. WATTS:  We didn't even discuss it.
  

 7        In fact --
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It was originally in the
  

 9        application, Nancy.  I remember it.  And he
  

10        withdrew it.
  

11                 MRS. WATTS:  Well, a variance, when it's
  

12        issued -- this is my understanding -- it goes with
  

13        the parcel, and it's good forever, until you pull a
  

14        permit for it, and then it has a time limit.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Right.
  

16                 MRS. WATTS:  Because our time limit -- our
  

17        building permits are done on two years.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And the variance granted
  

19        was for a 20-foot setback and the driveway was
  

20        going to be on 550 Hopkins, but he was not going to
  

21        continue it on there.  He always wanted to do this,
  

22        and we told him he wasn't going to be allowed to do
  

23        it.  We weren't going to give him the variance for
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 1        it.
  

 2                 MRS. WATTS:  And I just simply wanted to
  

 3        point out that he filled out a second zoning permit
  

 4        for this driveway that goes to 601 Hill Street.  I
  

 5        was trying to make it clearer.
  

 6                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Which we never granted a
  

 7        variance and he pulled back off of that.
  

 8                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I'm asking again for --
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  For that.
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  -- consideration.  There's
  

12        more to my argument.
  

13                 So there is a parking crunch in the area.
  

14        I know that on-street parking is at a premium.  I
  

15        know that there are folks here who would testify to
  

16        that.  Having two or more -- two additional
  

17        off-street parking spots would be a benefit to the
  

18        community, to the neighborhood, to alleviate the
  

19        parking crunch on Hill Street.  There is no parking
  

20        spot directly in front of 601 Hill Street because
  

21        it is spread at the Mulberry T.  So it would
  

22        require -- well, it's a little bit of a hardship
  

23        that if there was on-street parking it would have
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 1        to be a little further away from -- directly from
  

 2        the house.  But I don't want to miss that benefit
  

 3        that would be realized by that steep slope area of
  

 4        having two more off-street parking spots.
  

 5                 The steepness is within limits.  That was
  

 6        already approved, so I don't know that I have
  

 7        anything else to add, other than I do have the
  

 8        engineer here, Randy Bowers, who actually did the
  

 9        storm water management plan.  So if there are any
  

10        questions about either the original plan or the
  

11        modified plan that I submitted, or actually in this
  

12        application, I have him here to answer any
  

13        questions about storm water management.  He did a
  

14        full 50-year storm analysis and updated the
  

15        planning because I know it's a very serious
  

16        consideration for the steep slope district.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Let me, just to be clear,
  

18        there is no structure currently right now on
  

19        550 Hopkins, correct?  We had a building permit --
  

20                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- but no structure.
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.  That's another
  

23        variance I'm asking for.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Right.  I understand
  

 2        that.  And the only variance at that point was the
  

 3        setback --
  

 4                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- that we were going to
  

 6        allow to be up for.
  

 7                 The 601 Hill Street structure does exist,
  

 8        and you're trying to get that one ready for sale,
  

 9        correct?
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.  The house is
  

11        finished.  It's finishing touches and the only
  

12        thing left is the driveway.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Which is the
  

14        question.
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.  And there's --
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Again, I understand what
  

17        you want to do.  You want to build another house
  

18        and you want to try to, you know, recoup your
  

19        income and losses and investment.  But if the lot,
  

20        550 and 550 Hopkins, if these two parcel numbers
  

21        were combined into one lot, ultimately, you could
  

22        run the driveway from Hopkins down and serve
  

23        601 Hill, but you wouldn't be able to a build
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 1        house.  You could build an accessory structure.
  

 2        You could build a garage on that.  Those two lots
  

 3        would be one in the same.  It would be a weird
  

 4        shaped lot, but you could.  And then you would have
  

 5        the issue of the single driveway.
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Could we just bring the
  

 7        driveway down and have the driveway only be part of
  

 8        the 601 Hill Street lot and just have the remaining
  

 9        550 Hopkins lot go out?
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You would have to
  

11        subdivide -- you would have to create a driveway --
  

12        you'd have to create an easement -- not an easement
  

13        literally.  The ordinance frowns on shared
  

14        driveways.
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Understood.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  And that's what
  

17        you're asking for.
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  My understanding is that it
  

19        is possible for -- if it only crosses two
  

20        properties, given extenuating circumstances, that
  

21        it's considered -- and I would consider this an
  

22        extenuating circumstance given the topography.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Shared driveways open up
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 1        a can of worms.  You know, you're doing it now, but
  

 2        then you have two properties --
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Again --
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- and that's been the
  

 5        issue.  Shared driveways are a real problem.
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Minas owns both properties
  

 7        right now.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  "Now."
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So we can declare the
  

10        easement and then it's forever declared.
  

11                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  But then who has
  

12        maintenance responsibility?  It goes back to the
  

13        whole issue.  If you go back to the testimony,
  

14        again, who has maintenance responsibility for the
  

15        driveway?  Who's going to clean the driveway?
  

16        That's why the ordinance clearly frowns on shared
  

17        driveways.
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Can we specifically state
  

19        that?  If we declare an easement -- very
  

20        specifically declare who's responsible for the
  

21        maintenance?
  

22                 MRS. WATTS:  It should include storm
  

23        water.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It has to deal with storm
  

 2        water and all the other things.  Just a second,
  

 3        sir.  We'll get to you.
  

 4                 MRS. WATTS:  It should be maintenance and
  

 5        storm water.
  

 6                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  All right.  As
  

 7        part of your testimony, do you want to bring in
  

 8        your engineer?
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes, please, I would.
  

10                 RANDY BOWERS, sworn and testified:
  

11                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  State your name and your
  

12        company affiliation.
  

13                 MR. BOWERS:  Randy Bowers.  I'm the
  

14        managing member of Civil & Environmental
  

15        Technologies.
  

16                 COURT REPORTER:  How do you spell your
  

17        last name?
  

18                 MR. BOWERS:  B-O-W-E-R-S.  We're located
  

19        at 101 North Meadows Drive, Suite 134, Wexford, PA.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Mr. Bowers, were you --
  

21        did you submit testimony in that last -- when we
  

22        did that variance -- when we did testimony the
  

23        first time around?
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 1                 MR. BOWERS:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Did you provide
  

 3        documentation or information when we did the
  

 4        variance back a couple of years ago?
  

 5                 MR. BOWERS:  No, no.
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  You provided the original
  

 7        storm water management plan for 550 Hopkins?
  

 8                 MR. BOWERS:  We did.
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  And the original driveway.
  

10                 MR. BOWERS:  We did.
  

11                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And the original
  

12        driveway, it didn't go beyond -- it went -- what's
  

13        currently there rough graded in was not what you
  

14        had submitted, though, correct?
  

15                 MR. BOWERS:  That's correct.
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  He extended it.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah, he extended it.
  

18        Okay.
  

19                 MS. LYONS:  So this is the report that you
  

20        submitted by your firm, and I have a question on
  

21        this.  The title of it says "548 Hopkins Street and
  

22        601 Hill Street."
  

23                 MR. BOWERS:  Yeah, that's an error.
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 1        That's an error on the Hopkins Street.
  

 2                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's a combined lot,
  

 3        548 Hopkins and 550 Hopkins.
  

 4                 MS. LYONS:  So it really is a combined 548
  

 5        and 550 and 601 Hill Street.  Is that what you're
  

 6        saying?  I'm confused.
  

 7                 MR. SOUTHERN:  The parcel between
  

 8        548 Hopkins and 550 Hopkins is subdivided into two
  

 9        parcels, but it's one tax parcel.  But for
  

10        purposes, I guess, of these discussions,
  

11        550 Hopkins has always been kind of its own
  

12        separate subparcel or sublot within the parcel.
  

13                 MS. LYONS:  Right now there are two
  

14        different addresses, but it's one lot.
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.  I believe that's
  

16        correct.  Nancy, did I get that right?
  

17                 MRS. WATTS:  It's actually got -- it's
  

18        already subdivided, but the County used to just put
  

19        them together for one tax -- for taxing purposes.
  

20                 MS. LYONS:  Okay.
  

21                 MRS. WATTS:  But there really is already a
  

22        lot line, so that there is, indeed, a 548.
  

23                 MS. LYONS:  That's good to know, so we
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 1        don't have to go in approving subdividing this --
  

 2                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

 3                 MS. LYONS:  -- as well.
  

 4                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I'd be more comfortable
  

 6        if they were unsubdivided because we've got this
  

 7        little narrow piece -- because when you look at the
  

 8        driveway it actually is, for technical purposes,
  

 9        goes on three lots.
  

10                 MRS. WATTS:  It does.
  

11                 MS. LYONS:  It goes on the other one on
  

12        the other side.
  

13                 I have another question, too.  When you
  

14        put a house on 550 Hopkins Street with the
  

15        driveway, how close are you going to get towards
  

16        the impermeable ratio for that lot?  It's -- I
  

17        mean, that might be a variance that you're going to
  

18        have to come back and get again when you go to put
  

19        the house on there.
  

20                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Okay.
  

21                 MS. LYONS:  When you originally had the
  

22        driveway, I'm sure it didn't come down and cover
  

23        the whole back of the lot.
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 1                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It did, most of it.
  

 2                 MS. LYONS:  It did?
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.  It was pretty close.
  

 4                 MS. LYONS:  Okay.  But was there a
  

 5        discussion about impermeable surface standards back
  

 6        then?
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  No.
  

 8                 MS. LYONS:  I wasn't there.  It is a very
  

 9        steep slope, and you're saying that you know that
  

10        runoff comes down that -- the driveway right now is
  

11        gravel, so it's not finished.
  

12                 MR. BOWERS:  Yeah, we're proposing an
  

13        upgraded gravel system or a mechanically stabilized
  

14        gravel, which is considered a permeable paver and
  

15        looking at a proprietary system.  It's called a
  

16        TrueGrid, which is a plastic -- it's a
  

17        premanufactured plastic grid material that contains
  

18        the gravel and holds it in place.
  

19                 So there would virtually be no runoff from
  

20        the proposed driveway from Hopkins.
  

21                 MS. LYONS:  Based on this new technology
  

22        for the driveway?
  

23                 MR. BOWERS:  Yes, yes.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And it's a steep
  

 2        driveway.  Even looking at the grade, it's a steep
  

 3        driveway.
  

 4                 MR. BOWERS:  About 25 percent.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah.  And I know we had
  

 6        a lot of discussions about that and about the wall
  

 7        and the bend.  I mean, we had a lot of concerns
  

 8        about that, but it was on the property.  And we
  

 9        said, well, as long as it meets the geotech and it
  

10        goes back to them for the storm water, because that
  

11        variance request was pooled, and it stayed on --
  

12        you know, it was going to serve basically the
  

13        Hopkins house, not for lack of a better word.  The
  

14        Hill house, the 601.  Now, we're back to -- I feel
  

15        like we're -- like I'm getting painted into a
  

16        corner here because 601's been revised and done.
  

17        Like I said, this went through three months of
  

18        testimony and hearing and revised plans, and I feel
  

19        I'm being asked -- I'm getting painted into a
  

20        corner here for the same thing that we denied two
  

21        years ago.
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  If the only thing that was
  

23        denied last time was crossing the property
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 1        boundary, I don't know the case that I just made
  

 2        about the unique circumstances was made then.  I
  

 3        wasn't there, so I haven't read the testimony.
  

 4        This is definitely a unique situation.  I don't see
  

 5        any other way to get a driveway in.  Every property
  

 6        is --
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You don't have to have a
  

 8        driveway.  We went around and around about this.
  

 9        You could have on-street parking.  We're not
  

10        denying the use of the property.  It has on-street
  

11        parking.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Every property is permitted
  

13        to have a driveway, not entitled -- I get that --
  

14        but permitted to have a driveway.
  

15                 Again, given the unique situation with
  

16        this lot, the house is so far from the street.
  

17        It's the only property that has the house that far
  

18        up a hill from the street makes it very difficult
  

19        to traverse on foot.  It is going to be a problem.
  

20        It's potentially a hazard.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Well, one of the
  

22        questions I had with Mr. Abbott at the time,
  

23        because, believe me, we went through all different
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 1        options.  I said, "What if you kept the one lot
  

 2        where the driveway was, okay, but then take that
  

 3        other small strip, which was 508-P-115," which is
  

 4        referenced on here from Don, Jr., "take that to
  

 5        them," assuming there's not a house on this.
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There's a house at
  

 7        602 Hopkins.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Is this 602 Hopkins the
  

 9        Don, Jr. -- I believe that's the parcel that was
  

10        combined.
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes, they're here.
  

12                 DON HUBSCH, sworn and testified:
  

13                 MR. HUBSCH:  It sits on it.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That little narrow one,
  

15        the 26-foot-wide one?
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

17                 MR. HUBSCH:  602 Hopkins.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Well, it's not -- I'm not
  

19        looking at addresses on here.  I'm looking at the
  

20        tax parcel numbers.
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Okay.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  And I'm assuming
  

23        that these two parcels that are on this Hopkins
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 1        plan, Lot 1 and 2 --
  

 2                 MR. HUBSCH:  Can I see what you're looking
  

 3        at?
  

 4                 COURT REPORTER:  Who are you?
  

 5                 MR. HUBSCH:  Don Hubsch, H-U-B-S-C-H.  I
  

 6        own the property at 602 Hopkins.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I'm looking at this.  Is
  

 8        this your lot?
  

 9                 MR. HUBSCH:  Yeah, this is my lot.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So it's going on your
  

11        property, too?
  

12                 MR. HUBSCH:  Yeah, I bought this off of
  

13        Ed Abbott.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So this parcel is also
  

15        going to go on your -- on the back end of your lot?
  

16                 MR. HUBSCH:  Yeah.  He had the property at
  

17        the time so I'm assuming -- this is before, you
  

18        know, I bought it.  I just bought this house a year
  

19        ago, whenever he got sick.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Because this
  

21        parcel plan shows a piece of it going on the back
  

22        end of your property.
  

23                 MR. HUBSCH:  Umm-hmm.  So, you know, I'm
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 1        all for whatever they need to do to do this.  And I
  

 2        guess the only reason why I'm here is because my
  

 3        wife and I bought this piece of property to move
  

 4        into after our kids leave.  We want a small house.
  

 5        This piece of property that Stan is left with down
  

 6        here, if it doesn't have, you know, a driveway or
  

 7        something going to it, I don't -- the 649 -- or
  

 8        what's the one on -- you're talking about?
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  601 Hill Street.
  

10                 MS. LYONS:  601 Hill Street.
  

11                 MR. HUBSCH:  That thing is way down there.
  

12        And, you know, I don't know how you access it.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  With a driveway.
  

14                 MR. HUBSCH:  Yeah, with a driveway.  I can
  

15        see how you -- the way that Ed did it, I can
  

16        understand -- granted, it doesn't sound like it was
  

17        legal to begin with, but if it's me giving up a
  

18        little bit of this property, I don't care about
  

19        that.  I'll sign it over to Stan.  I'll do whatever
  

20        I need to do with that.
  

21                 This piece of property here, the one where
  

22        you're building, I don't understand why you don't
  

23        just access that building from the front and just
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 1        put a driveway in from the street and have
  

 2        off-street parking and then do a couple of stories
  

 3        up, and then just have that driveway --
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That's what we gave him
  

 5        the variance for.
  

 6                 MR. HUBSCH:  Okay.  And then just have
  

 7        that driveway for one house.
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Because that driveway
  

10        isn't on 601.  It's not subdivided and part of 601.
  

11        It's part of the Hopkins lot.
  

12                 MR. HUBSCH:  So I don't know what legally
  

13        you can do, but are you able to just get an
  

14        easement to go through there or just subdivide the
  

15        driveways?
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It's a shared -- you have
  

17        to subdivide it.  The driveway was going to serve a
  

18        back garage on Hopkins.
  

19                 MR. HUBSCH:  Oh, see, I would put the
  

20        garage on the front, not even put a driveway down
  

21        there.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  He was putting a back
  

23        garage on Hopkins and serving 601.
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 1                 MR. HUBSCH:  Yeah, see, I mean, I would
  

 2        reverse that and not even use that driveway for the
  

 3        new house.  I'd put a garage just like they did on
  

 4        Little and Thorn over in Sewickley where they built
  

 5        those nice townhouses.  You got a driveway right
  

 6        there.  You got a door, and you walk up to the next
  

 7        floor.  They're gorgeous.  You know, you're
  

 8        alleviating the parking because the other thing is,
  

 9        I only have 26 feet.  So for me to put two cars in
  

10        front of my house and then deal with all the
  

11        neighbors and stuff, too, and then the Hill Street
  

12        property for them to park up there on top of that
  

13        and then another house and everything else, now
  

14        we're talking about a whole bunch of parking up
  

15        there.  That's what I would do.  I mean, I would
  

16        just subdivide that thing out.  Put a driveway down
  

17        to that house.
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That would alleviate the
  

19        shared maintenance aspect if there's a way
  

20        creatively to do that.
  

21                 MR. HUBSCH:  I mean, I'm for it.  I used
  

22        to have a shared driveway, too.  It stinks.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Shared driveways are --
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 1        again, I don't know if that subdivision would allow
  

 2        that and still meet the subdivision requirements of
  

 3        the existing -- I think Nancy's shaking her head.
  

 4        That might have been the other issue is the
  

 5        setbacks because part of that parcel is 601, now
  

 6        you're dealing with a narrower parcel and maybe
  

 7        that was the issue is they couldn't put the house
  

 8        in.
  

 9                 MRS. WATTS:  It's in an R-1 Zoning
  

10        District, so minimum lot size is at least 12,000
  

11        square feet.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Well, the lot you're on
  

13        isn't 12,000 square feet.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It's an existing lot.
  

15        It's a nonconforming lot.
  

16                 MR. HUBSCH:  So is there any type of --
  

17        something where he can just put the driveway
  

18        through and have it recorded in a deed as an
  

19        easement?  I don't know these terms, but it seems
  

20        like -- you know, and then dedicate that driveway
  

21        just for Hill Street and have it recorded in the
  

22        deed.  I mean, he owns all the property.
  

23                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
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 1                 MR. HUBSCH:  I mean, I'm for -- whatever
  

 2        Stan wants, I'll give him on the back of Hopkins.
  

 3        I don't care.  You know, it's a steep hill.
  

 4                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I appreciate that.  It's
  

 5        not really usable for 602.
  

 6                 MR. HUBSCH:  Quite honestly, the way that
  

 7        driveway's put in is you can turn around and come
  

 8        back up there in the wintertime.  I know it's
  

 9        not -- it's not, you know -- Ed did whatever Ed
  

10        did, but, I mean, we use that.  I've been down it.
  

11        You go down.  You go up and down it pretty easily
  

12        with a two-wheel drive car right now, as long as
  

13        you can turn around.  And it makes that piece of
  

14        property very -- it's a nice piece of property now.
  

15        You have a house that was completely locked.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Which properties?
  

17                 MR. SOUTHERN:  The 601 Hill Street.
  

18                 MR. HUBSCH:  648 Hill Street.  I mean,
  

19        that property was -- you can't get to it.  You're
  

20        not going to be able to walk up those driveways.
  

21        It's a four-bedroom house.  You're expecting kids
  

22        to live there, right?  You're expecting a family to
  

23        live there.  I don't see how you can buy that
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 1        property and be able to take your groceries up
  

 2        without having a way to get to it.
  

 3                 AN AUDIENCE MEMBER:  Is the floor open for
  

 4        other speakers?
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That was just for one
  

 6        because it's part of his thing.  We'll open it up
  

 7        in a minute, okay?  I want to finish his testimony
  

 8        and then we'll open it up for the rest of it.  But,
  

 9        frankly, part of the application, what I'm looking,
  

10        now that I understand, he's given up a piece of his
  

11        property.  It does overlap onto his back end of his
  

12        property.
  

13                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
  

14                 MR. HUBSCH:  Listen, I don't care about
  

15        cutting grass, so he can have it.  It does abut my
  

16        property.
  

17                 MS. LYONS:  Well, and -- but it does need
  

18        to get tied up legally because you might not stay
  

19        there and then it causes problems for the Borough
  

20        down the line.
  

21                 MR. HUBSCH:  My testimony is whatever he
  

22        needs, he can have.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That's part of the
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 1        application because technically you're part of this
  

 2        driveway thing, so that's why I wanted to give us
  

 3        clarification of that.  We'll get to the other
  

 4        public comments in a minute.
  

 5                 Going back to the application, did you
  

 6        also, in addition to the storm water, do the
  

 7        geotechnical?  Because I know we had some issues on
  

 8        the bend and there was some guide rail.  What's the
  

 9        current condition of the wall integrity?
  

10                 BARBARA COX, sworn and testified:
  

11                 MS. COX:  I have pictures.
  

12                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  As part of the engineer,
  

13        I want to hear from the engineer.  Have you
  

14        inspected this cut as it is now?
  

15                 MR. BOWERS:  Yes.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Is it stable?
  

17                 MR. BOWERS:  All the retaining walls are
  

18        stable.  Some final grading needs to be done, but
  

19        for the most part all of the walls are...
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Can you -- will you --
  

21        did you do the engineering for the walls?
  

22                 MR. BOWERS:  We did not.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You did not do the
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 1        engineering, so you will not -- will you put your
  

 2        seal to them?
  

 3                 MR. BOWERS:  We did the engineering on the
  

 4        house that was sold.
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  547.
  

 6                 MR. BOWERS:  547, we designed that wall.
  

 7                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I think that's partially
  

 8        the wall -- primarily the wall we're talking about.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  But that's the wall --
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

11                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah, 547 is the wall
  

12        that comes around the bend.  You did the
  

13        engineering, and was that built according to your
  

14        specs?
  

15                 MR. BOWERS:  Yes.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Even though it didn't get
  

17        a building permit --
  

18                 MR. BOWERS:  No, there was a permit.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- and she didn't review
  

20        it --
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There was a permit for
  

22        that.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Oh, there was?  On that?
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 1        For the wall and stuff?
  

 2                 MRS. WATTS:  For 547 Hill Street.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Oh, for 547.
  

 4                 MRS. WATTS:  Yes.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Not 550?
  

 6                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So 550 where this
  

 8        driveway exists?
  

 9                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You did the engineering.
  

11        You did the storm, but not the geotech information?
  

12                 MR. BOWERS:  That's correct.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And there was no geotech
  

14        submitted?
  

15                 MRS. WATTS:  There was.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Oh, there was for 550?
  

17        As part of the building permit.  And that was okay.
  

18        Now, was the driveway, Nancy, the driveway was part
  

19        of the building permit, correct?  That was reviewed
  

20        and approved?
  

21                 MRS. WATTS:  That is correct.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  He put the
  

23        driveway in.  He just didn't put the house up.
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 1                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

 2                 MS. LYONS:  For 550 Hill?
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.  550 Hopkins.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  550 Hopkins.  He
  

 5        submitted the information that you needed, and you
  

 6        issued the permit.
  

 7                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  The driveway when cut
  

 9        in -- and I understand sometimes you got to cut the
  

10        driveway in to build the house sometimes, so I can
  

11        understand that, but the house never got finished.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That's correct.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Illness and so on.
  

14                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So that was there.  The
  

16        permit has since expired.
  

17                 MRS. WATTS:  That's correct.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  And the driveway
  

19        is still there, plus -- because he got a little
  

20        overzealous with the Bobcat.
  

21                 MS. LYONS:  The driveway is bigger than
  

22        the one you had approved.
  

23                 MRS. WATTS:  Yeah, I absolutely did not
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 1        approve the extension to 601.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It wasn't supposed to be
  

 3        that way, yeah.  Okay.  And the walls were put in
  

 4        according to what they were going to do, or they
  

 5        weren't completed?
  

 6                 MRS. WATTS:  The walls are actually kind
  

 7        of small.  They're not really retaining much.
  

 8        They're kind of banking.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Was there supposed to be
  

10        some guide rails?  There was some issues with some
  

11        guard rails and so on?
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There's a guard rail that's
  

13        up at the bend.  There's a retaining --
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I remember we went round
  

15        and round about the concern about the guide rails
  

16        and stuff, too.
  

17                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There's a retaining wall
  

18        behind it.  Again, I thought that you had inspected
  

19        that when it was going in for 550 Hopkins, not for
  

20        601 Hill.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  The 550.  So that could
  

22        be certified down the road?
  

23                 MR. BOWERS:  I'd have to review the record
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 1        for that.
  

 2                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yeah, it's not part of
  

 3        that.  I just thought I saw that in the email
  

 4        exchanges.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And then, of course, it
  

 6        got, like I said, extended to serve more than that.
  

 7                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So before you open it up to
  

 8        everyone else, I do have --
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yes.
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  -- one more final comment
  

11        before -- if you're done with questions for Randy.
  

12                 So the -- and I know there are going to be
  

13        some comments here.  I just want to speak to it.
  

14                 When Ed was doing the construction of the
  

15        driveway, and the driveway -- not the extension,
  

16        but the original down steep slope and the bend and
  

17        the guard rail and the retaining wall, when he did
  

18        all of that construction, he damaged the property
  

19        at 555 Hill Street, Barb Cox's property.  I'm sure
  

20        she's going to speak to it.  I don't know the
  

21        extent to what promises were made.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

23                 MS. LYONS:  Which property is that again?
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That's a new number.
  

 2                 MS. LYONS:  Right.
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  555 Hill Street --
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Where's it at?
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  -- is the property right
  

 6        behind the driveway.  So it's between 547 Hill and
  

 7        601 Hill.  There's a house in between.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  This one here
  

 9        (indicating), this lot?
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.  So there was --
  

11                 MS. LYONS:  Wait.  I'm sorry, I don't
  

12        understand.  Hold on a second.
  

13                 MR. SOUTHERN:  555 Hill Street is the
  

14        house in between 547 and 601.
  

15                 MS. LYONS:  Mine -- there isn't --
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's not shown on the
  

17        drawing, but it's down here (indicating).  So
  

18        there's a backyard behind the driveway and then
  

19        there's a house down here.
  

20                 MS. LYONS:  So the application that I got
  

21        --
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It doesn't show up on the
  

23        application.
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 1                 MS. LYONS:  It says Mr. Knight, 547 Hill
  

 2        Street.
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

 4                 MS. LYONS:  And then it goes all the way
  

 5        back to -- it goes from Hill Street all the way
  

 6        back to where the driveway goes in at 550 Hopkins,
  

 7        that lot.  So you're saying Mr. Knight's 547 Hill
  

 8        Street, there's another lot?
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There's another house down
  

10        below the driveway right in the middle between 601
  

11        Hill --
  

12                 MS. LYONS:  It can't.
  

13                 MR. SOUTHERN:  -- and 547.
  

14                 MS. LYONS:  I'm not sure.
  

15                 MRS. WATTS:  You have to make that more
  

16        clear to her.
  

17                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I'm sorry.
  

18                 MS. LYONS:  That's okay.  We're working on
  

19        it.
  

20                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So right here --
  

21                 MS. LYONS:  So it sits over here?
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I'm turned around.  I'm
  

23        sorry.
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 1                 MS. LYONS:  This is the driveway, right?
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Here is Hill Street.
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I think this is mislabeled.
  

 4        This is 547 and this is 555.  This is 601.  This is
  

 5        actually 555.  It's mislabeled.
  

 6                 MS. LYONS:  5 --
  

 7                 MR. SOUTHERN:  555.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So in relationship to
  

 9        Exhibit A of the Norman Shoup subdivision is it
  

10        property to the -- behind -- where the driveway
  

11        starts to get wide?  So it's adjacent to the 601.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes, this is Barb's
  

13        backyard right here (indicating).
  

14                 MS. LYONS:  So it's basically exactly
  

15        downhill from the driveway.
  

16                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.  So she has a serious
  

17        concern about it.  I just wanted to address that.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So did we when the time
  

19        was coming.  We were concerned that when that came
  

20        around that bend that was going to push that dirt
  

21        toward that property.
  

22                 MS. LYONS:  Earlier, just so I can
  

23        clarify, you said you guys had already bought 547



Donna M. McMullen, Inc.
724-728-4026

- September 4, 2018

57

  
 1        Hill Street and renovated it and sold that one.
  

 2                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

 3                 MS. LYONS:  I got to make sure I make that
  

 4        note on this one.
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.  That drawing was
  

 6        mislabeled.
  

 7                 MS. LYONS:  That one is the one directly
  

 8        below 548 Hopkins.
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.
  

10                 MS. LYONS:  Got it.
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So 555 Hill Street, which
  

12        is Barb's house, when Ed constructed the driveway,
  

13        some dirt -- he regraded or some dirt got dumped in
  

14        her backyard.  I believe that the plan was to clean
  

15        up her backyard.  It did not happen.  He got sick.
  

16        He died.  It's still not handled.  I have tried to
  

17        talk with Barb about making amends and trying to
  

18        help her with her backyard, but Barb --
  

19                 MS. COX:  I came up so I could hear you.
  

20                 MR. SOUTHERN:  What was it you said on
  

21        Friday?
  

22                 MS. COX:  Well, he did -- I'll tell the
  

23        whole story.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Before you do
  

 2        that, we have one more clarification.  I'm looking
  

 3        at two sets of drawings.
  

 4                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  One is in the application
  

 6        that you -- behind your application, okay, after
  

 7        the listing of the names of the adjoining property
  

 8        owners.
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You have attachment 4A
  

11        and a drawing at the bottom of that.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That drawing does not
  

14        match Exhibit A of the Shoup engineer.
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  This drawing at the bottom
  

16        of 4A was done by Randy, you're correct.  It's not
  

17        exactly the same as the drawing that Shoup
  

18        Engineering provided.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It's not even close to
  

20        being exact.
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  They're similar in
  

22        structure, but...
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Well, in design because
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 1        this looks like the old drawing that we -- one of
  

 2        the first ones we saw and said, "There's no way in
  

 3        hell we're going to allow that to happen, because
  

 4        of steep slopes and some other issues, storm water
  

 5        runoff and others."  I think that drawing was a
  

 6        drawing -- that's why I'm asking because, like, we
  

 7        had issues with the way it was -- and, of course,
  

 8        this Shoup Exhibit A wasn't what was agreed to
  

 9        either.  I'll go back and pull all the hearings
  

10        and, you know, submissions, but I can tell you that
  

11        I need to know which one we're looking at.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Okay.  Well, I've got the
  

13        engineer here testifying to the storm water
  

14        management for this slope.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  All right.  Well, there's
  

16        an issue.  We're back and forth for several months
  

17        here with this thing.
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  And I had -- yeah, there's
  

19        two surveys that were done.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah, because there's an
  

21        opening on this one side here on this one that's on
  

22        4A.
  

23                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yeah.



Donna M. McMullen, Inc.
724-728-4026

- September 4, 2018

60

  
 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  As you're coming down the
  

 2        driveway, it looks like there's an opening.  It's a
  

 3        square-off.  Are you looking at adding another
  

 4        person to have their driveway up?
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  This --
  

 6                 MS. LYONS:  Down to 548 Hopkins?  Are you
  

 7        trying to -- this drawing, you're saying, it looks
  

 8        like you're trying to connect to possibly a
  

 9        driveway on 548 Hopkins.
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That would -- we're going
  

11        to connect the existing installation.
  

12                 MS. LYONS:  That will be shared with three
  

13        properties?  No?
  

14                 MR. SOUTHERN:  No, no, no, no, no.  It
  

15        would just be -- it's right -- the drawing that's
  

16        shown -- the driveway that's shown in the drawing
  

17        is for 601 Hill, primarily.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Then why is there -- it
  

19        looks like a curb cut opening towards the other
  

20        side of the property?
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's not a curb cut.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  On Hopkins.
  

23                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That is a wall.  That is
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 1        actually a wooden wall.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Because in Shoup
  

 3        Engineering we see it just a continuing bend.
  

 4                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  On the drawing at --
  

 6        that's part of attachment 4A, it looks like an
  

 7        opening there.
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Randy, this is what you
  

 9        created.  That's an accurate depiction of what's
  

10        actually there today, correct?
  

11                 MR. BOWERS:  Yeah.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  And that is a wall, not a
  

13        curb cut.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Can you bring that
  

15        forward to explain to me, both of you?  Would you
  

16        mind approaching the bench?
  

17                 MR. SOUTHERN:  This right here
  

18        (indicating) is a wall.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I'm not talking about
  

20        that.  I'm talking about this right here
  

21        (indicating).
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Oh, that is storm water
  

23        drainage over here (indicating).
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And whose property is
  

 2        that going to go to?
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That's on 548.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So the water runoff on
  

 5        550 is going to flow onto the property at 548?
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I'd have to have Randy
  

 7        explain that, but I don't believe that's the case.
  

 8        This water does not go -- make a turn.  It comes
  

 9        down and is actually --
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So why is the opening?
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's directly down into the
  

12        permeated...
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I just want to make sure
  

14        that you're not coming back to me and saying, "Oh,
  

15        look, lo and behold, we've got an opening here.  We
  

16        can feed this property, too."
  

17                 MR. SOUTHERN:  He's actually talking about
  

18        that.  That feeds the storm water.
  

19                 MR. BOWERS:  So this is a 25 percent slope
  

20        and superelevated a little bit, but then right here
  

21        (indicating) there's a berm that the grade reverses
  

22        and it's vegetated.  Sort of like this
  

23        (indicating).
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And flows to the -- so
  

 2        it's going to flow out of 548?
  

 3                 MR. BOWERS:  There's a high point right
  

 4        here (indicating).
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

 6                 MR. BOWERS:  It's superelevated.  And then
  

 7        from here it's high/low this way (indicating), the
  

 8        vegetation.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So it will flow onto 548?
  

10                 MR. BOWERS:  So this water here
  

11        (indicating), which is part of this property, is
  

12        going that way, not on our property.
  

13                 MS. LYONS:  So it would flow a little bit
  

14        to this corner.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I'm saying from 548 --
  

16        the water coming off this driveway, will it
  

17        ultimately flow onto 548?
  

18                 MR. BOWERS:  No, because there will be no
  

19        surface runoff from that driveway with the
  

20        mechanically stabilized gravel system.  No runoff.
  

21        No runoff.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  And there's no
  

23        intent of making -- with that opening there to make
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 1        that into a new driveway?
  

 2                 MR. BOWERS:  No.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

 4                 MR. BOWERS:  No.
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Purely water drainage for
  

 6        the back.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I just wanted a
  

 8        clarification of the drawing is what I understood
  

 9        for the back.
  

10                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I'm sorry, I misunderstood.
  

11                 MS. LYONS:  We definitely need to know
  

12        which one of these drawings --
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  But that does not match
  

14        up with this.
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  This does not represent
  

16        that as accurate.
  

17                 MS. LYONS:  Okay.
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  This has the exact property
  

19        lines because he did an official survey and kind of
  

20        roughed in the driveway.  That's an exact
  

21        representation of what's actually there today.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

23                 MS. LYONS:  Okay.  Thank you.
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 1                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Sorry about that.  Sorry
  

 2        for the confusion.  That's my fault.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  This technically is
  

 4        as-built.
  

 5                 MS. LYONS:  So to be clear for the
  

 6        stenographer, Attachment 4A, the drawing and that,
  

 7        is the as-built.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah, in the applicant's
  

 9        application.  Okay.  Mr. Southern, is there
  

10        anything else?
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Is there anything else?
  

12        Oh, well, I think -- so, yeah, Barb needs to
  

13        explain what's going on, but my only comment was, I
  

14        am cognizant of the fact that while Ed was doing
  

15        construction, he was not respectful of your
  

16        backyard.  He had told me that he was planning on
  

17        putting everything back, restoring your grass.  He
  

18        got sick and he died.  I don't know -- I just am
  

19        going to leave it there.
  

20                 MS. COX:  That's very sad.
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I can't speak to what
  

22        happened.  But I just wanted to make the point that
  

23        I have been trying to work with you.  And I know
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 1        that you're not happy with the way things were
  

 2        left.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And there's no
  

 4        disrespect.  And believe me, again, I'm sorry, but
  

 5        at the same time it appeared that Mr. Abbott was
  

 6        told some things and was instructed and agreed to
  

 7        do and did -- you know, he's one of those guys that
  

 8        says yeah and then does something else.
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I guess.  My only final
  

10        comment on that is -- thank you for your time.  My
  

11        wife's telling me to sit down.
  

12                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  All right.  So I
  

13        think it's probably proper and then others who wish
  

14        to speak may speak, but since you've already --
  

15        your issue has been raised, let's start with you
  

16        and your testimony.
  

17                 Please give us your name, your address and
  

18        provide us the information.
  

19                 MS. COX:  You have to excuse me.  I have
  

20        really bad allergies.  My name is Barbara Cox and I
  

21        live at 555 Hill Street.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Just a minute
  

23        here, Barbara.  I want to make sure I get it marked
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 1        on here.
  

 2                 MS. LYONS:  Can you spell your last name?
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Barbara Cox.
  

 4                 MS. COX:  C-O-X.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  She's the fourth person
  

 6        down on the list.
  

 7                 MS. COX:  I have no driveway.  I have
  

 8        off-street parking, and I have to walk up 70 steps
  

 9        to my home every day.  I've lived there for 15
  

10        years.
  

11                 My backyard at one point was surrounded
  

12        totally by three properties that the LLC owned.
  

13        They sold the one property about two months ago.
  

14                 I never knew that they were putting a
  

15        driveway in back there.  I originally was under the
  

16        impression that they were building a house on
  

17        Hopkins Street, which I was later told by people --
  

18        I don't know if this is true -- but that they never
  

19        planned on building the house.  They just wanted to
  

20        put in the driveway.
  

21                 How do you not know they're putting a
  

22        driveway behind their house?  My entire yard was
  

23        surrounded, except for the side where 601 is, with
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 1        trees and plants and brush, so you couldn't see --
  

 2        it was very private.  I would see the Bobcat up on
  

 3        the hillside, and I thought they were building a
  

 4        house, so I never bothered them.  That's sort of
  

 5        how I was.  When they were doing the work on the
  

 6        house that sold, I actually let them use my
  

 7        backyard to bring materials across because it made
  

 8        it easier for them.  You couldn't come from Hopkins
  

 9        Street at that time.
  

10                 So for a whole summer, they used my
  

11        backyard, and the understanding was that the grass
  

12        would be replaced.  And I was cool with that.  I
  

13        want the property to be used, too.
  

14                 MS. LYONS:  They were accessing your
  

15        backyard --
  

16                 MS. COX:  Yes.
  

17                 MS. LYONS:  -- from Hill Street, not from
  

18        Hopkins?
  

19                 MS. COX:  Right.  From Hill they were
  

20        going across the backyard.
  

21                 MS. LYONS:  They were walking up the hill?
  

22                 MS. COX:  No, the other property did have
  

23        a driveway, so they would drive up the driveway on
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 1        Hill Street, go across my property and work on the
  

 2        house on Hill Street.  I was fine with that, until
  

 3        I came home one day and found two massive trucks in
  

 4        my backyard where I had stipulated they were
  

 5        allowed to carry things across.
  

 6                 At that -- so then basically what happened
  

 7        was they finished the one house and they finished
  

 8        the other house.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Now, can you -- they
  

10        finished the house on...
  

11                 MS. COX:  They finished both houses on
  

12        Hill Street as far as I knew.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  601 and the 547.
  

14                 MS. COX:  Right.  Because a tenant moved
  

15        into -- which is another thing about hardship.
  

16        Somebody's been living in that house for the last
  

17        two years renting, and he walked up the steps.
  

18                 MS. LYONS:  That house.  Which house?
  

19                 MS. COX:  601 Hill Street.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Because 547 has
  

21        been finished and was sold.
  

22                 MS. COX:  Yes.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And then 601 was ready
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 1        for sale.
  

 2                 MS. COX:  In my opinion, someone was
  

 3        living there for two years, so it was finished.
  

 4        The renter -- well, I came home one day, and there
  

 5        was a huge bulldozer in the back of the house, and
  

 6        it was just digging into the hillside.  They had
  

 7        excavated the hillside.  They tore out all of my
  

 8        greenery.
  

 9                 And so I asked the gentleman who was
  

10        renting, "What's going on there?"  And he's like,
  

11        "Oh, that's my secret driveway."  And I was
  

12        obviously very, very upset.  And at that point in
  

13        time I had decided that I was going to come to the
  

14        Borough and discuss this.  And then a week later I
  

15        heard Ed was sick.  I didn't feel at that time I
  

16        wanted to cause more trouble for the family.  No
  

17        one was using the driveway.  I really -- I liked
  

18        Buffy and the two little girls.  I felt really
  

19        horrible, and plus I kind of even yelled at him, so
  

20        I even felt worse.  So I let it go.  I figured I
  

21        would deal with it.  I never knew Stan existed.  I
  

22        didn't want to bother Buffy, so I just sort of let
  

23        it go.
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 1                 MS. LYONS:  Who is Stan?
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Stan is the gentleman --
  

 3                 MS. LYONS:  Sorry.
  

 4                 MS. COX:  I didn't know he existed.
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I was the silent partner.
  

 6                 MS. COX:  Yeah, I didn't know that there
  

 7        was even another person.  I thought Ed owned
  

 8        everything.
  

 9                 I went back to look, and because now
  

10        there's nothing but my three trees left, and they
  

11        had excavated all of the land back there.  And this
  

12        steep driveway was put in and with a curb, and I
  

13        have pictures that goes right along very close to
  

14        my property line.
  

15                 When they -- some of the things I'm
  

16        worried about, obviously, is the water drainage.
  

17        I'm worried about the steepness of that driveway is
  

18        pointed right to my house, so I don't know if
  

19        you -- any of you remember, but the property at --
  

20        I'm getting confused myself.  The property that
  

21        sold, they have a driveway that's not as steep, and
  

22        I don't know if very many of you remember when the
  

23        dump truck went down the hill into the house across
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 1        the street.  That is very frightening to me.  I'm
  

 2        worried about in the winter, where are they going
  

 3        to plow the snow on this driveway?  Because it's
  

 4        not a very wide driveway.  I know the gentleman
  

 5        here has said that he's used it, but the people
  

 6        that have been using it have a mid-size pickup
  

 7        truck, and they actually have to back up because
  

 8        they can't turn it around, so they're backing it
  

 9        up.  And you kind of have to go pretty fast to back
  

10        up this slope out onto Hopkins Street, which is a
  

11        two-way street.  It's narrow.  You've got stuff
  

12        coming from the cemetery and Orchard Terrace.  So I
  

13        think that's kind of scary.
  

14                 They've done a lot of damage to my
  

15        property.  They removed all the wild rose bushes.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Did they go onto your
  

17        property then?  They went beyond the property line?
  

18        They're on your property?  Did they do anything to
  

19        your vegetation and stuff?
  

20                 MS. COX:  They dug these boulders -- and
  

21        I'll show you the size of it.  I'll show you them.
  

22        They dug these boulders out of the side of the
  

23        hill, and they didn't replace them, but they put
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 1        them on the top of the hill where they had removed
  

 2        all the foliage, and once you remove all of that,
  

 3        you get more water running down.  And now I have --
  

 4        they're right on the property line, these huge
  

 5        rocks.  But they did leave an opening -- and I'll
  

 6        show you -- so that they can come through my yard.
  

 7        My yard has now become a path.  They -- people --
  

 8        not meaning anything bad, but they walk down the
  

 9        driveway when they're out walking from the
  

10        cemetery.  They walk down the driveway.  There's a
  

11        space opening now that goes right through my yard,
  

12        and they go right down to Hill Street.  So it's
  

13        become a path.
  

14                 I think it's decreased my property value
  

15        significantly.  I can't -- I mean, my yard is
  

16        rubble.  I don't know how you can claim a hardship
  

17        when you've been renting the property for two
  

18        years.  They shouldn't have taken out the steps.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You're saying 601 --
  

20                 MS. COX:  601 has been rented.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- is currently occupied?
  

22                 MS. COX:  Pardon?
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It's currently occupied?
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 1                 MS. COX:  No, they made him move out two
  

 2        months ago.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  All right.
  

 4                 MR. SOUTHERN:  He moved out voluntarily.
  

 5                 MS. COX:  Pardon?
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  He moved out voluntarily.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  But it was being
  

 8        occupied?
  

 9                 MS. COX:  Yes, yes.  A very nice family.
  

10        They took those steps out.  I don't know why.  It
  

11        was always sort of, like, better to beg forgiveness
  

12        than ask permission.  And it hasn't been a very
  

13        pleasant experience.  I would like to show you some
  

14        of the pictures if I could.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yeah, and I'm going to
  

16        have some questions for you, too, but we would like
  

17        to see the pictures.
  

18                 MS. COX:  Okay.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  As you know --
  

20                 MS. COX:  And I kept saying, "I don't
  

21        think you have a permit for this."  And I will tell
  

22        you, I came out after -- there were some young men
  

23        putting a wall up on the driveway, and I did go



Donna M. McMullen, Inc.
724-728-4026

- September 4, 2018

75

  
 1        out, and I said, "Do you have a permit?  Who's in
  

 2        charge here?"  And that's when I met Stan.  And I
  

 3        sort of explained the situation to Stan because my
  

 4        trees are dying because they dumped so much dirt on
  

 5        them.  And his solution at the time was, he'd have
  

 6        some college kids come and dig them out.  But after
  

 7        I thought about that, I thought, I don't know if I
  

 8        want college kids up here.  I started to dig them
  

 9        out myself and rocks are falling and dirt's
  

10        falling.  And then he did call me on Friday.
  

11                 This is the excavating that they did along
  

12        the property.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So right now, the
  

14        property is gravel basically with some grass
  

15        growing up in it?
  

16                 MS. COX:  Well, that's their driveway.
  

17        That's the driveway.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  The driveway is gravel.
  

19                 MS. COX:  Yeah, those are weeds that have
  

20        sprung up in the last month.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  I'm looking at
  

22        a --
  

23                 MS. LYONS:  That's 601.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  This is 601, this
  

 2        yellowish-looking --
  

 3                 MS. COX:  Yeah, that's 601.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- house is 601.  So the
  

 5        driveway's still going to be above the house.
  

 6                 MS. COX:  Yes.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  But this driveway is
  

 8        gravel --
  

 9                 MS. COX:  It is now.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- basically now?  That's
  

11        not what you're proposing.
  

12                 MR. BOWERS:  No, an upgraded gravel
  

13        system.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  But it's still gravel.
  

15                 MS. COX:  These rocks -- see these rocks
  

16        here?  They were buried in this hillside.  That's
  

17        what held the hillside up.  They took the rocks
  

18        out, and they didn't replace it with anything, and
  

19        they placed the rocks right here (indicating).
  

20        Right on the property line.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  I see that.  Now,
  

22        is this your property?
  

23                 MS. COX:  My property's down here
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 1        (indicating).
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

 3                 MS. COX:  But these weren't here.  This
  

 4        was all trees.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  So the trees are
  

 6        gone.  They've placed this gravel.
  

 7                 MS. LYONS:  The trees were on their
  

 8        property?
  

 9                 MS. COX:  They were on my property.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yes.  In this slope.
  

11                 MS. COX:  Yeah, my property.
  

12                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  In this slope.
  

13                 MS. COX:  Yeah.
  

14                 MS. LYONS:  So the trees were where these
  

15        rock are?  That's your property?
  

16                 MS. COX:  No.  This was all trees.
  

17                 MS. LYONS:  Well, yeah, but I'm trying to
  

18        find out.  The trees were on your property or their
  

19        property?
  

20                 MS. COX:  This picture shows it better.
  

21        This is my property.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And so they removed some
  

23        trees on your property as well?
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 1                 MS. COX:  They removed everything.  This
  

 2        was all wild rose bushes, lilac bushes.
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There was no trees removed.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Just vegetation?
  

 5                 MS. COX:  Lilac trees.
  

 6                 MS. LYONS:  But were they on your
  

 7        property?
  

 8                 COURT REPORTER:  I have three people
  

 9        talking.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

11                 MS. COX:  Yes.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  No, they were not.
  

13                 MS. COX:  I'm showing him in the back.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Sir, I'm going to
  

15        have Stan actually come up here so that I can get a
  

16        clarification from you as well.
  

17                 MS. COX:  That's fine.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Because there's some
  

19        questions here that I have to --
  

20                 MS. COX:  This was not sloped like that.
  

21        When they pushed the dirt to flatten all that it
  

22        came down, and they buried these trees.  I dug a
  

23        lot of it out.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Well, I can see based on
  

 2        my experience in trees that tree's going to die.
  

 3                 MS. COX:  Yeah, they're all going to die.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  They're going to die.  I
  

 5        understand that.  Now, this is 601, Stan.  Would
  

 6        you agree that this dirt -- I mean, this has
  

 7        obviously been excavated and changed.
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes, correct.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  She didn't do it.  Your
  

10        guy did.
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes, that's what I was
  

12        trying to say, that this was more of a --
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So this slope was in
  

14        here?
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Now, Nancy --
  

17                 MS. COX:  And this is the driveway.
  

18        There's weeds in there.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Just stay with our
  

20        stenographer.  I'm going to ask one question at a
  

21        time.
  

22                 MS. COX:  Okay.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And one person and then
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 1        based on -- are we allowed to keep these?
  

 2                 MS. COX:  Yes, of course.
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So I'm going to make this
  

 4        photo Exhibit 1.  So in photo Exhibit 1 we see --
  

 5        and, again, Nancy, you'd have to pull the drawings
  

 6        to see what they did.  Obviously, this was done
  

 7        that wasn't part of your permit because it's
  

 8        clearly in this part of -- in photo Exhibit 2, this
  

 9        platform area wasn't part of the permit, right?
  

10        (Hearing Exhibit 1 and 2 marked for
  

11        identification.)
  

12                 MRS. WATTS:  Correct.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So in matching that up,
  

14        that's this area here.  You would never have
  

15        approved or seen?
  

16                 MRS. WATTS:  Yeah, I'm not sure where that
  

17        is.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  This is her property
  

19        here.  Here's 601.
  

20                 MRS. WATTS:  So can you show it to me on
  

21        this so I can understand it?  I want her to do it.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  The as-builts.  Here's
  

23        the as-builts supposedly as it is.  Here's
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 1        Mrs. Cox's property.  Here's 601, correct?  We're
  

 2        agreed?  This is the Cox property --
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Correct.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- right?  So we're
  

 5        assuming that this -- we're discussing this flat
  

 6        square area of this perpendicular to her rear lot.
  

 7        This area right here (indicating).
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
  

 9                 MRS. WATTS:  I still want to ask the
  

10        question:  Can you show me which one of these lots
  

11        is yours?
  

12                 MS. COX:  I'll try to.  I'm on Hill
  

13        Street, so this is Hill Street (indicating) and
  

14        this is 527.  So this is where Ruth is and then --
  

15                 MRS. WATTS:  That must be you.
  

16                 MS. COX:  This is me.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It says McKnight.
  

18                 MS. COX:  Well, I'm not sure why it says
  

19        McKnight.  And the address is wrong, too.
  

20                 MS. LYONS:  The driveway's coming down
  

21        here like that (indicating).
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  This is 547.  This is not
  

23        547.  This is --
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 1                 MS. COX:  555.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- 555.
  

 3                 MRS. WATTS:  Because that's what's messing
  

 4        me up.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  So it's this
  

 6        little narrow property here.
  

 7                 MS. COX:  Down here.  And I would never
  

 8        have agreed to this, and Ed knew that.  I mean, to
  

 9        a driveway behind my house, a yard.  Whatever you
  

10        call that.  This is -- just so you can see --
  

11                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  So we have the
  

12        issue of the tree.  We see the vegetation.
  

13                 MS. COX:  There's three trees.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Let me ask you a
  

15        question, too.  Now, when were these taken?
  

16                 MS. COX:  Three days ago.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

18                 MS. COX:  And I done a lot of the digging
  

19        out myself.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I was going to say, it's
  

21        been a very wet spring.
  

22                 MS. COX:  I know, because I'm getting a
  

23        lot of water in my basement.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So you're getting
  

 2        runoff -- well, have you seen an increase from the
  

 3        driveway or from the other area?
  

 4                 MS. COX:  Well, from having all that soil
  

 5        moved.
  

 6                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Are you seeing any
  

 7        erosion?
  

 8                 MS. COX:  Well, I'll show you more.  This
  

 9        is how steep that is going up the hill.  This is
  

10        the bend.  And as you can see, the driveway comes
  

11        right down along this side, and that's my house.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  There is a guard rail
  

13        there.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So this is the brick wall
  

15        that was put in.  So this was the brick wall.  I
  

16        can now see the opening to the curb of the asphalt.
  

17        So it comes down here and then makes the bend.
  

18        Okay.  I got that.
  

19                 MS. COX:  This is like they just --
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Let's just mark these so
  

21        I know.  Exhibit 1.  We need to know -- did we do
  

22        that as 2?
  

23                 MS. LYONS:  This is 2.
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 1                 COURT REPORTER:  You're whispering.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  If you're going to be on
  

 3        the record you have to tell us -- say what you have
  

 4        to say or go sit down.
  

 5                 MS. COX:  I was just saying that I feel
  

 6        really bad having to do this and that this is my
  

 7        home.  It's not property that I'm flipping.  And
  

 8        that's what I said.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  So we got -- and
  

10        this is the driveway, the slope of the driveway.  I
  

11        do see the wall.
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I actually have some
  

13        pictures, too, that I'll submit in if you want.  So
  

14        I took some pictures saying pretty much the same
  

15        thing.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Let me just finish up
  

17        with Mrs. Cox's testimony and where we're at and
  

18        what's happened to her property.  Now, let me ask
  

19        you --
  

20                 MS. COX:  These are my other trees.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay -- so while the
  

22        driveway is not on your property, excavation and
  

23        such has clearly gone on your property.
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 1                 MS. COX:  And the only thing separating my
  

 2        property from the driveway are those rocks.  So if
  

 3        somebody hits those rocks --
  

 4                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That's not quite true.
  

 5                 MS. COX:  Well...
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I can show that.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  We're going to get to
  

 8        that.
  

 9                 MS. COX:  I can show it, too.
  

10                 MS. LYONS:  What's the ground pitch level?
  

11        Like, was it built up so it was built up a little
  

12        bit?
  

13                 MS. COX:  Here's where the erosion has
  

14        started.
  

15                 MS. LYONS:  Was the pitch -- that is a big
  

16        flat area where the driveway is right now and the
  

17        driveway's flat.  It goes right to the property
  

18        line.  So I think what she's trying to say is, the
  

19        pitch of the property on her property was changed
  

20        to make it steeper to be able to get it up to --
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  The grade.
  

22                 MS. LYONS:  The grade, right.
  

23                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's not as steep now.
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 1                 MS. LYONS:  On her property.
  

 2                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's a gradual now.  It
  

 3        used to be a little steeper because you had a
  

 4        retaining wall, right?
  

 5                 MS. COX:  No, I had a flower --
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  You said a rock wall.  I'm
  

 7        sorry.
  

 8                 MS. COX:  Here.  It was two stories high
  

 9        and they knocked it down.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  In this exhibit here --
  

11        let's get this one.  What number are we at?
  

12                 MS. LYONS:  Seven.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I see a cinderblock wall
  

14        that was clearly in this condition or was it in --
  

15                 MS. COX:  No, it was not in that
  

16        condition.  They knocked it down and they buried
  

17        the blocks, and I've been taking the blocks out.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Well, I wouldn't
  

19        be doing anything because you may be destabilizing
  

20        it further.
  

21                 MS. COX:  Well, that's why I stopped doing
  

22        it.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It hasn't been vegetated.
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 1        Disturbing that slope further could cause more
  

 2        damage.
  

 3                 MS. COX:  I'm just worried about the trees
  

 4        dying.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Well, they're dead.  I
  

 6        can tell you that right now.  They're going to die.
  

 7        If they're buried -- if the roots are buried,
  

 8        they're going to die.  Is this what's there now or
  

 9        was this previous?  You don't have any -- do you
  

10        have any pre-condition photos?
  

11                 MS. COX:  No, I'm trying to get them from
  

12        the assessor.  I can't find them.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  What is this, these
  

14        stairs?
  

15                 MS. COX:  That's what they built behind
  

16        that house, the 601.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Oh, to get from there to
  

18        601 down below.
  

19                 MS. COX:  And then these show this --
  

20        remember, this is their property line where the
  

21        pink is and then this is my property.  You can see
  

22        they put the stones, but they left an opening, and
  

23        this is what I'm saying has become the path.
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 1        That's all my yard.  It's become a path.  And,
  

 2        again, that was all -- you couldn't walk through
  

 3        there before.  And you can see the house goes right
  

 4        up to the property line.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Thank you.
  

 6                 MS. COX:  601.
  

 7                 MS. LYONS:  Is that the property line that
  

 8        you share, your property line?
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Your back property line
  

10        to --
  

11                 MS. COX:  The side property line.
  

12                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  -- to 550.
  

13                 MS. COX:  The side property line.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Oh.
  

15                 MS. COX:  See the side property line?
  

16                 MS. LYONS:  The house backs up right along
  

17        here.
  

18                 MS. COX:  Umm-hmm.
  

19                 MS. LYONS:  I'm not sure where on here.
  

20                 MS. COX:  It's right on the line.
  

21                 MS. LYONS:  Well, I know, but, like --
  

22        it's obviously not by Hill Street.  It's
  

23        somewhere...
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 1                 MS. COX:  Yeah, back.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So let me ask you, you
  

 3        don't have -- obviously, your property fronts Hill
  

 4        Street?
  

 5                 MS. COX:  Yes, that's correct.
  

 6                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You don't have -- I think
  

 7        you testified before you have on-street parking.
  

 8        You don't have off-street parking?
  

 9                 MS. COX:  That's correct.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Is your house set back
  

11        similar --
  

12                 MS. COX:  Not quite as far, but it is --
  

13                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Half as far.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  To 601?
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's about half as far.  I
  

16        have a picture if you want me to show you.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So I just want to get an
  

18        idea.
  

19                 MS. COX:  Yeah.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  But your house is
  

21        set back how many feet?
  

22                 MS. COX:  I have to walk up about 70
  

23        steps, like city steps.  I should have brought a
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 1        picture of that.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  All right.  So
  

 3        other than the damage --
  

 4                 MS. COX:  The lack of privacy.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And some issues of runoff
  

 6        and concern about...
  

 7                 MS. COX:  The hillside falling.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And the vehicles.
  

 9                 MS. COX:  Thank you.  Do you have any
  

10        other questions for me?
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I just want to point out --
  

12                 MS. LYONS:  I'm done.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  What do you have?
  

14                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Just real quick.  There is
  

15        the guard rail.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Are these the photos that
  

17        are also in your application?
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  No, I just took these and
  

19        added them because I knew this was going to come
  

20        up.  There is a guard rail right at the bottom of
  

21        the driveway, so if the car did come down there's a
  

22        very sturdy guard rail.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Where is the guard rail?
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 1        I saw that.  Those looked like cinderblocks that
  

 2        were sticking up.  Where are our photos?  Did you
  

 3        take those photos from us?
  

 4                 MS. COX:  I left them.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  No, no.  Okay.
  

 6                 MS. COX:  Make sure you have all that you
  

 7        need.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  There was a set with a
  

 9        driveway.  So these walls, and then this thing.  Is
  

10        that what you're talking about?  These walls?
  

11        These blocks?
  

12                 MR. SOUTHERN:  No, no, no.  That's just
  

13        the retaining wall.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

15                 MR. SOUTHERN:  That's Versa-Lok.  This
  

16        right here.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  This right here?
  

18                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Is it metal, wood?  What
  

20        kind?
  

21                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's wood.  It's sturdy,
  

22        but it's wood.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It's wood?
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 1                 MR. SOUTHERN:  The top part is.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  It's wood.  Around the
  

 3        bend going down the hill is wood?  It's not metal?
  

 4        It's wood.
  

 5                 MR. BOWERS:  It's heavy timber.
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's sturdy.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Is that it?
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yes.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  So that would be
  

10        in Exhibit 9, photo Exhibit 9.  It levels out here.
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  The retaining wall in front
  

12        of the trees.  It is doing its job of stopping
  

13        runoff from behind it from where the retaining wall
  

14        is.  It's doing its job, but it does end at the
  

15        second tree.
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

17                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So that's it.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  If you want to give us
  

19        those we can keep those as references.
  

20                 MR. SOUTHERN:  It's just my take on
  

21        things.  All right.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  All right.  Okay.  Do we
  

23        have anybody else who wishes to say anything
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 1        regarding this application?  Ma'am, please rise,
  

 2        give us your name and address.
  

 3                 SANDRA MARTIN, sworn and testified:
  

 4                 MS. MARTIN:  My name is Sandra Martin.  I
  

 5        live at 630 Mulberry Street.
  

 6                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Just a minute.  630?
  

 7                 MS. MARTIN:  Mulberry.
  

 8                 COURT REPORTER:  Your last name again,
  

 9        Martin?
  

10                 MS. MARTIN:  M-A-R-T-I-N.
  

11                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  That's a new
  

12        property for me.  Are you adjacent to the property?
  

13                 MS. MARTIN:  I live the -- Hill Street.  I
  

14        live on the corner, down the hill.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You live down the hill on
  

16        the other side of Hill Street?
  

17                 MS. MARTIN:  Right.  I live on the corner.
  

18                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

19                 MS. MARTIN:  So to anyone who's lost a
  

20        friend or a family member, you have my sympathy.
  

21                 But when these properties were purchased,
  

22        especially the two on Hill Street and the house had
  

23        not been lived in for years.  Raccoons were in it.
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 1        It was the kids' hangout.  It had no roof.  And he
  

 2        said, "I'm going to make it pretty."  My concerns
  

 3        when I came to see you, the runoff -- all the
  

 4        underwater springs that are in those properties.
  

 5        The one that he sold -- and as he said, you want to
  

 6        make it easy for his spouse and your business.  You
  

 7        have to consider -- consider who you go into
  

 8        business with.  Know what they are doing.  You
  

 9        can't sit there and say, "Oh, well, I didn't know
  

10        what he was doing.  Now I want you to consider this
  

11        and give me this variance."  When Ed would do what
  

12        he wanted, he'd come in the back way to get it
  

13        done.  "Oh, it will be okay."  You can't do that.
  

14                 So when he, as he's doing now, with the
  

15        driveway, he chose to remove the stairs coming to
  

16        his property on Hill Street.  He chose to do that.
  

17        That house has been there for 60 years.  I've lived
  

18        in Sewickley my whole life.  I said, "Well, when
  

19        you purchase a property, you have to consider what
  

20        you are purchasing."
  

21                 So when I came to see you, and I said, "I
  

22        know he's trying and other people that have lived
  

23        there have tried to put in a circular driveway.  It
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 1        was always declined because of the underwater
  

 2        springs from the cemetery, all the way down through
  

 3        Sewickley."  And when he chose to take those
  

 4        stairs -- and like Barb was saying -- someone just
  

 5        moved from that property, so it's not like there's
  

 6        no access, has never been access.  He chose to
  

 7        purchase that, knowing what the stairs were or the
  

 8        access to get to that property.  He chose to take
  

 9        the access out.  I called Barbara again.
  

10                 The runoff -- and like I said, I live on
  

11        the corner.  Now, I have water in my basement on
  

12        the Hill Street side.
  

13                 You know, we want to make this easy for
  

14        his family.  And I understand that, but all these
  

15        things, as I said to Ed, "You should have
  

16        considered that when you chose to buy a house,"
  

17        because everyone said, "I have people come and
  

18        they'd say, 'Boy, that house is really nice.'"  And
  

19        they'd say, "Oh, so, you come through the back to
  

20        get in."  I said, "No, it's one way".  And they'd
  

21        say, "Oh, my."  But he knew these things, what his
  

22        options were, to get to that property.
  

23                 Like I said, what he's trying to do from
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 1        the back he was trying to do from the front.  And
  

 2        those retaining walls -- and I asked, I said, "How
  

 3        far are these going?"  He said, "But it's going to
  

 4        look nice."  I said, "Looking nice means nothing
  

 5        when," as I said to Barbara, "that house is going
  

 6        to be in my house down on Mulberry Street."  He
  

 7        didn't care.  That's the bottom line.  He didn't
  

 8        care.  He'd do whatever he chose.  And "If I get
  

 9        caught, I get caught.  I want to go in the back
  

10        door.  I'm going to go in the back door to get done
  

11        what I want."  To make it easy for him.
  

12                 The same thing with the property on
  

13        Hopkins Street.  I went up there the other week
  

14        after I had gotten a letter.  I feel so bad for
  

15        Barbara because anyone who's going to come down
  

16        that slope is going to end up in her backyard.
  

17                 So that's what I have to say.  I think
  

18        anything that they have done that was not
  

19        permitted, they should have to tear it down, start
  

20        over.
  

21                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Does anyone else
  

22        have anything to say on this case?  Sure.  Please
  

23        state your name.
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 1                 CHRISTINE ALLEN, sworn and testified:
  

 2                 COURT REPORTER:  Were you sworn in?
  

 3                 MS. ALLEN:  Yes.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Your name, ma'am?
  

 5                 MS. ALLEN:  Christine Allen, 806 Hill
  

 6        Street.
  

 7                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Is it A-L-L-E-N or A-N?
  

 8                 MS. ALLEN:  E-N.
  

 9                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yes, ma'am.
  

10                 MS. ALLEN:  Thanks.  I have a question to
  

11        start, please.  Earlier in the proceedings I
  

12        believe I heard the area that we're discussing
  

13        referred to as a natural resources overlay.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yes.
  

15                 MS. ALLEN:  Could you please tell me what
  

16        that means?
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That means that that area
  

18        has steep slopes and so, therefore, it is
  

19        susceptible to slips and slides, landslides, water
  

20        runoff, those sort of thing with the steep slopes
  

21        that would normally be accompanying that sort of
  

22        situation.  So greater care and attention has to be
  

23        done regarding to any soil and so on.  And in this
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 1        particular instance -- and, Miss Watts, please jump
  

 2        in and please clarify me in this area.  But things
  

 3        like that, there's a requirement for a soil
  

 4        engineer and storm water runoff.  Some of the
  

 5        issues that have been raised today and some of the
  

 6        issues that this current board and the previous
  

 7        board that heard the variance back in '15 had the
  

 8        same issues.  So it's an area where we protect, so
  

 9        there's additional precautions.  Just like if
  

10        there's historic district, as we mentioned in one
  

11        of the previous cases, then they have to look at
  

12        the architectural integrity of the properties.
  

13        Village overlay.  So there's additional
  

14        requirements of that.
  

15                 So this is an area that's been reviewed
  

16        and deemed by the zoning ordinances to have special
  

17        attention put upon it because of its steepness of
  

18        slopes and grades.
  

19                 Correct, Nancy?  Anything?  Did I miss
  

20        something?
  

21                 MRS. WATTS:  For an engineer.
  

22                 MS. ALLEN:  Thanks.  Great.  Thank you.
  

23        To me that is a large part.  That's the heart of
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 1        the matter, as we've already all discussed.
  

 2                 I know that Sewickley very carefully and
  

 3        wisely plans our zoning ordinances and to -- you
  

 4        know, I think I agree that it should all be put
  

 5        back and start over.  I mean, it's not okay to
  

 6        ignore all the ordinances and then come in and ask,
  

 7        you know, for forgiveness afterwards and say that
  

 8        it's okay.  It's not just impacting the properties
  

 9        in question.  It's impacting the nearby neighbors,
  

10        as we've heard.  And I would say it impacts the
  

11        entire integrity of the neighborhood.  We are prone
  

12        to landslides.  All of Allegheny County is under an
  

13        emergency, you know, the state right now, because
  

14        of landslides.  Sewickley, we have those.  It's
  

15        shale.  I think that this presents -- I think that
  

16        the way this is being managed and the changes that
  

17        have been unauthorized, nonpermitted changes that
  

18        have been done to the property really puts the
  

19        Borough in a very precarious position.  And
  

20        specifically the closer you are to the property in
  

21        question, it puts your own property and perhaps
  

22        your life at risk should be there landslides.
  

23                 That's what I have to say.  Thank you.



Donna M. McMullen, Inc.
724-728-4026

- September 4, 2018

100

  
 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Thank you.
  

 2                 MR. SOUTHERN:  May I respond to that?
  

 3                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  You may.
  

 4                 MR. SOUTHERN:  So there was a permit for
  

 5        the renovations to the house.  I don't have the
  

 6        permit number.  It was done for 601 Hill Street.
  

 7                 MRS. WATTS:  Interior renovations.
  

 8                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Interior renovations.  The
  

 9        only -- and I know he was served a violation at
  

10        some point for having a Bobcat in the front yard.
  

11        He was taking the steps out.  I'm having trouble
  

12        understanding how taking out one set of steps would
  

13        destabilize the entire front yard.  I understand
  

14        the concern, but I don't -- I'm not a structural
  

15        engineer, but I would seriously question whether or
  

16        not that would have destabilized the entire front
  

17        yard of that house.  That house has been there for
  

18        over a hundred years, and it's primarily the same
  

19        front yard as it's always been just instead of
  

20        having a set of steep steps down the front it's a
  

21        winding path in the front now.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I did not -- again, maybe
  

23        I misunderstood.  I think that was one of their
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 1        concerns, I believe, that the bulk of the testimony
  

 2        was concerning what has happened to the slope and
  

 3        what has happened to the property as a result of
  

 4        building a driveway beyond the limitations of what
  

 5        we had given a permit for and what we understood
  

 6        was going to happen.
  

 7                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Right.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  And, again, those were
  

 9        the same concerns that this Board had when we had
  

10        the hearings before and granted the variances.
  

11                 MR. SOUTHERN:  And I have my engineer who
  

12        has testified that the driveway will improve the
  

13        current situation with water runoff, not make it
  

14        worse.  In the semi-finished state that has
  

15        currently existed it's not as efficient as it would
  

16        be if we just finished it with the TrueGrid
  

17        product.  It would absolutely stabilize the hill
  

18        and keep any runoff from going onto Barb's yard
  

19        right now.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  May I ask your engineer a
  

21        question?
  

22                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Absolutely.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  If you removed the
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 1        plateau and the area beyond where it was supposed
  

 2        to be and put the driveway to 550 Hopkins as it was
  

 3        supposed to be would that -- would that be a better
  

 4        improvement?  Certainly you've added and expanded
  

 5        the plateau in the bottom to serve 601 Hill.  By
  

 6        tearing that other part out and just providing what
  

 7        was originally permitted, which was the driveway at
  

 8        550, that impervious surface, those sort of things
  

 9        would still be there, would it improve the driveway
  

10        -- the runoff?
  

11                 MR. BOWERS:  The original plan to come
  

12        around that house, the slope would have been less.
  

13        Come around the 550 house.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  The slope would have been
  

15        less, right.
  

16                 MR. BOWERS:  Yes.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Than what he put in
  

18        because he served the other property.
  

19                 MR. BOWERS:  Yes.
  

20                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  The slope is now steeper.
  

21                 MR. BOWERS:  That's the only thing I can
  

22        say on that.  That driveway wrapping around the
  

23        house would have been --
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Less.
  

 2                 MR. BOWERS:  -- not as steep as the
  

 3        driveway now.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Having said that, there's a
  

 6        full ground sump system to adequately and fully
  

 7        handle the full amount of storm waters as stated in
  

 8        the storm water analysis plan, so it's completely
  

 9        well-thought out and covered with the current
  

10        driveway installation -- well, the finished
  

11        driveway installation, plus the sump system to be
  

12        installed.
  

13                 MR. BOWERS:  Yeah, there was no evidence
  

14        of any seepage from the vacant property at Hopkins
  

15        toward the bottom of the hill as there was on the
  

16        Hill Street property where we saw evidence of
  

17        seepage down to Hill Street.
  

18                 MS. MARTIN:  The water that we're getting
  

19        now, everyone sits there and laughs as much rain as
  

20        we have had, it's all clear.
  

21                 MR. BOWERS:  But, again, we did not see
  

22        any evidence of any seepage from Hopkins down.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Let me ask you this.
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 1        Other than put -- was there an additional
  

 2        exterior -- and maybe this is best for Nancy
  

 3        because you issued the occupancy.  Was there, aside
  

 4        from ripping out the side lots, was there any other
  

 5        exterior grading change in -- of the grade other
  

 6        than...
  

 7                 MRS. WATTS:  He put a switchback path in
  

 8        and took out the steps.
  

 9                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I changed the grading.
  

10                 MRS. WATTS:  The grading was pretty
  

11        minimal.
  

12                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  All right.
  

13                 MS. LYONS:  This is in the front of the
  

14        property.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  In the front of the
  

16        property.  Okay.  Anybody else?  Ma'am, please come
  

17        forward, state your name and address.
  

18                 JO STAFFORD, sworn and testified:
  

19                 MS. STAFFORD:  Hi.  My name is
  

20        Jo Stafford, S-T-A-F-F-O-R-D.  I live at 552 Hill
  

21        Street, just directly across the street from
  

22        Mrs. Cox.
  

23                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Ma'am, so I'm sorry,
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 1        you're across the street from Hill Street, from
  

 2        Mrs. Cox's house?
  

 3                 MS. STAFFORD:  I'm on Hill Street across
  

 4        the street from Mrs. Cox.
  

 5                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  And, I'm sorry,
  

 6        your first name was?
  

 7                 MS. STAFFORD:  Jo, J-O.
  

 8                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Oh, okay, Jo.  Thank you.
  

 9                 MS. STAFFORD:  J-O, a female Joe.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Just Jo.  Okay.
  

11        Just Jo, tell us your statement.
  

12                 MS. STAFFORD:  Jo Stafford.  Remember her?
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yes.  I don't want to
  

14        interrupt you any further, so please tell us what
  

15        you have to say.
  

16                 MS. STAFFORD:  I'm not an engineer.  I did
  

17        look at property on Hopkins Street ten years ago,
  

18        maybe 12.  I don't know.  I looked specifically at
  

19        the houses that are next to evidently that 550
  

20        whatever, the Hopkins -- the empty lot one, where
  

21        the driveway is now.  I looked at a couple of those
  

22        houses, they were empty.  And my realtor -- the
  

23        realtor I was talking with said, "Well, I'm from
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 1        out of state so I'm not familiar with all your
  

 2        Pennsylvania hills."  I said, "Well, hey, look at
  

 3        that backyard.  What do I have to know about that
  

 4        if I were to purchase one of those homes with that
  

 5        slope like that?"  I said, "I've never seen
  

 6        anything like that.  Is that safe?  What's going
  

 7        on?"
  

 8                 They said, "Well, Sewickley has ordinances
  

 9        and you wouldn't be able to do this, this and that
  

10        over there and build."
  

11                 And that made sense to me because I liked
  

12        the idea that you're protecting the land and the
  

13        homes that are on it.
  

14                 And so when I saw what was going on
  

15        regarding the drive that was put in, I don't know
  

16        about storm water.  I mean, I can just see the
  

17        water whooshing down that driveway.  And, great,
  

18        I'm glad there's a new gravel technique to zap it
  

19        up.  But what I wondered about is just the
  

20        erosion -- just the integrity of the land.  It
  

21        appeared as though there was land removed from the
  

22        hillside.  If I were living in those houses -- and
  

23        I know I'm not -- I would be concerned just about
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 1        the integrity, you know, have they compromised the
  

 2        integrity of the land.
  

 3                 Now, besides taking out the greenery that
  

 4        has roots, I mean, I came from a sand dune area in
  

 5        Michigan, and they used to plant plants to hold the
  

 6        sand so you didn't lose your dune and your house
  

 7        and all that.
  

 8                 So my concern, not being an engineer, just
  

 9        being a regular person who just looks at land is
  

10        for the land, you know.  I don't know.  Has it been
  

11        compromised?  And I just wanted that to be on the
  

12        record.  Thanks.
  

13                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Yes, ma'am.
  

14                 MS. COX:  I just wanted to add one thing
  

15        about the driveway behind my yard.  I don't know if
  

16        they should have put a wall up behind my yard to
  

17        put a driveway in.  I had asked Stan about that
  

18        because right now sort of like the trees are
  

19        holding that up.  I don't want a wall on my
  

20        property because I don't want to have to be
  

21        responsible if my wall falls and their driveway
  

22        falls, but that does concern me.  I mean, I don't
  

23        want it there.  I don't want a driveway in my
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 1        backyard, but that concerns me a lot that all that
  

 2        is on those trees.  You can see trees don't grow
  

 3        with three feet of dirt on them.  That's all.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Thank you.
  

 5                 MR. SOUTHERN:  One last comment, if I may?
  

 6        There is absolutely a plan to add vegetation to
  

 7        hold things in place.  That's part of Randy's plan,
  

 8        to make sure we plant grass or vegetation around
  

 9        the driveway area.  And as I mentioned previously,
  

10        I had offered on numerous occasions to work with
  

11        Barb on restoring her backyard.  I did not realize
  

12        that those trees were dead.  They don't look dead
  

13        from looking at the top of them.  But I'm not a
  

14        horticulturist, so I don't know the state of them.
  

15        But I would make good-faith efforts to help restore
  

16        them.
  

17                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  We do have a tree
  

18        commission.  Probably something -- but I'm not a
  

19        horticulturist either, but I will tell you that
  

20        I've been around a lot of construction.  Those
  

21        trees staying the way they are, the way the roots
  

22        are buried, are going to die and die soon.
  

23                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Yeah.
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 1                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I've been around --
  

 2        that's background of what I do deal with, and I'm
  

 3        telling you, those trees are going to die.  They're
  

 4        buried and their roots are suffocating right now,
  

 5        not to cause alarm and harm.
  

 6                 Let me ask you one other question.  When
  

 7        was this driveway built?
  

 8                 MS. COX:  It was built probably --
  

 9        probably -- he finished it right before he got sick
  

10        because I didn't know -- well, right before I knew
  

11        he got sick.
  

12                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Well, I need,
  

13        like, a date.
  

14                 MR. SOUTHERN:  2016, best estimate.
  

15                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  So 2016.  No, I
  

16        understand the illness, whatever else.  There's no
  

17        reason, none that that dirt -- that that property
  

18        isn't stabilized then, if that's the case.  I don't
  

19        know if you were moving stuff around or whatever,
  

20        but there should be grass growing and stabilized.
  

21        They should have put something on there until this
  

22        issue was done.  There's no reason whatsoever that
  

23        that property should be -- there's areas around
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 1        that thing -- there's grass growing along the
  

 2        driveway, that that needs to be stabilized.
  

 3                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I agree.
  

 4                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Until we reach this
  

 5        decision.
  

 6                 MR. SOUTHERN:  I offered to do that.  I
  

 7        was told, "I don't want your help.  I'll do it
  

 8        myself."  She would not let me do anything in her
  

 9        back yard.
  

10                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  I understand.
  

11                 MS. COX:  He offered to send college
  

12        student volunteers, and that made me uncomfortable,
  

13        but he did call me Friday before this meeting.
  

14                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  I see some areas of
  

15        exposure and, again, if it's two years now, there
  

16        still should be some stuff done.
  

17                 MS. COX:  I was trying to be nice.  I
  

18        didn't know Stan existed.
  

19                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  I understand.
  

20                 MR. HUBSCH:  I would just like to make one
  

21        last comment here.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

23                 COURT REPORTER:  Who are you now?
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 1                 MR. HUBSCH:  Don Hubsch.  I own
  

 2        602 Hopkins.  So, obviously, I know Stan very well.
  

 3        Okay.  I do live there.  I do have -- I don't live
  

 4        there.  I have a piece of property we intend on
  

 5        living there.
  

 6                 As she mentioned, that house had raccoons
  

 7        in it and kids partying in it.  I'm kind of glad
  

 8        it's fixed.  That's one thing.
  

 9                 What I will address, though, this guy sits
  

10        on the board of our church.  He is like losing his
  

11        mind over this thing.  He is trying everything he
  

12        can do to get this thing right.
  

13                 MS. COX:  I'm losing my mind, too.
  

14                 MR. HUBSCH:  I know.  I know.
  

15                 MS. MARTIN:  Church has nothing to do with
  

16        it.
  

17                 MR. HUBSCH:  No, I'm not saying that.
  

18        What we're doing is talking to the character of
  

19        this guy.  And I know you don't know him.  Being
  

20        that Buffy left, Ed screwed him.  Just so you know.
  

21                 MS. COX:  All of us.
  

22                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.  Well --
  

23                 MR. HUBSCH:  And he's really trying to fix
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 1        this.  That's all I want to say about it.
  

 2                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  Okay.
  

 3                 MR. HUBSCH:  And I think he will work with
  

 4        you in any way possible to get this thing done.
  

 5                 MS. MARTIN:  I'm a deaconess.
  

 6                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  That's enough.  That's
  

 7        enough.  That's not what we're going to discuss
  

 8        here.  I appreciate the character testimony, but
  

 9        we're going to look at the situation and the
  

10        circumstances and address it according to the laws
  

11        and the ordinances.  We'll have a decision at our
  

12        next meeting.
  

13                 MR. SOUTHERN:  Thank you.
  

14                 MS. COX:  I'm sorry, when did you say
  

15        you'll have a decision?
  

16                 MR. EICHENLAUB:  We'll have a decision at
  

17        our meeting in October.  That's when we'll render
  

18        our decision relative to -- we're going to have
  

19        some discussions.  We'll probably have some
  

20        discussion with counsel -- legal counsel on this as
  

21        well again because we have two things:  One's a
  

22        variance, but also we have a, for lack of a better
  

23        word, same as we had with case 1804, an illegal
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 1        structure that was built outside of permission.  So
  

 2        we have to address that issue, too, and how do we
  

 3        do it and what ramifications we'll have with that.
  

 4        So there's some multi-facets with this that we have
  

 5        to address.  Okay?
  

 6                 AN AUDIENCE MEMBER:  Thank you.
  

 7        (WHEREUPON, witness excused and proceedings
  

 8        concluded at 10:11 p.m.)
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